1994

Merit Electrical & Instrumentation, a corporation,
and Jonathan Carl Juretech, Christopher M.
Schiffman, Dan A. Johnson, and Kit Vaness v. Utah
Department of Commerce, Division of
Occupational and Professional Licensing: Brief of
Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §§ 78-2a-3(2)(a) (Supp. 1993) and 63-46b-16 (1993).

On August 18, 1994, this Court issued a Notice of Consideration for Summary Disposition to review the issue of whether it possesses subject matter jurisdiction to hear the present Petition for Review. On September 2, 1994, Petitioners, Merit Electrical & Instrumentation, Juretech, Schiffman, Johnson, and Vaness (referred to hereinafter collectively as "Merit"), submitted a Memorandum in Opposition to Summary Disposition, asserting that this Court has jurisdiction because the agency order in this case is final under the Collateral Order Doctrine. Thereafter, Judge Jackson issued an Order, denying the Court's motion for summary dismissal and deferring ruling on the jurisdictional issue until plenary presentation and consideration of the issues raised by the Petition for Review. Merit's arguments for appellate jurisdiction in this case are fully set out in their memorandum attached as Addendum A.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Is it unlawful for the Respondent, the Department of Commerce, Division of Occupational and Professional Licensing ("Division") to convert citation proceedings to a formal adjudication in light of its own procedural rules mandating that contested citations be conducted as informal adjudicatory proceedings?

Standard of Review: Merit raised this issue before the Division in the Memorandum in Support of Request for Review of Order Converting Citation to Formal Adjudicative Proceedings dated, May 5, 1994. See Addendum B, Memo. at 4-7. Utah appellate courts review challenges based on an agency's failure to follow its own procedures for correction of error. Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(4)(e) (1993); Krantz v. Utah Dept. of Commerce, 856 P.2d 369, 370 (Utah Ct. App. 1993).

2. Assuming arguendo that the Division has discretion to convert proceedings under Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-4, has the Division abused its discretion?

Standard of Review: Merit raised this issue before the Division in the Objection to Motion and Order Converting Contest of Citations, dated March 3, 1994, and in the Memorandum in Support of Request for Review of Order Converting Citation to Formal Adjudicative Proceedings, dated May 5, 1994. See Addendum C at 4 and Addendum B, Memo. at 8. A challenge to an agency decision in the face of a purported statutory grant of discretion is affirmed only if the agency decision is reasonable and rational. Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(h)(i) (1993); Morton Int'l, Inc. v. Utah State Tax Comm'n, 814 P.2d 581, 587 (Utah 1991).

3. Does conversion under Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-4(3), deny Merit equal protection?

Standard of Review: Merit raised this issue before the Division in the Memorandum in Support of Request for Review of Order Converting Citation to Formal Adjudicative Proceedings, dated

May 5, 1994. See Addendum B, Memo. at 16. Utah appellate courts show no deference to an agency's decision regarding the constitutionality of governing statutes or the constitutionality of an agency's decisions. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals reviews constitutionality of the Division's decision to convert the contested citation hearing to a formal proceeding in this case for correctness. Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(4)(a) (1993); Questar Pipeline v. Utah State Tax Comm'n, 817 P.2d 316, 317-18 (Utah 1991); Avis v. Board of Review, 837 P.2d 584, 586 (Utah Ct. App. 1992).

DETERMINATIVE LAW

The following constitutional provisions, statutes, and administrative rules are determinative of the issues on appeal. The text for each of these is attached in full at Addendum D.

1. United States Constitution, amendment XIV, § 1.
2. Utah Constitution, article I, § 24.
3. Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-4 (1993).
4. Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16 (1993).
5. Utah Admin. R156-46b-202 (1994).
6. Utah Admin. R156-46b-403 (1994).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In this case, Merit challenges an order of the Division converting citation proceedings from informal to formal.

On or about December 9, 1993, the Division issued citations to Merit Electrical and Instrumentation, Inc. and four employees alleging violations of the Utah Construction Trades Licensing Act.

Utah Code Ann. § 58-55-1 et seq. (1994).¹ The Division claims that Merit Electrical violated § 58-55-2(32)(c)² of the Act by hiring unlicensed and non-exempt electricians as employees to perform electrical construction work in connection with a refinery modernization project owned by Kennecott Utah Copper Corporation, located near Salt Lake City, Utah. The Division claims that each of the individuals cited violated § 58-55-2(32)(a)³ by engaging in a construction trade requiring a license (electrical) while not licensed or exempted from licensure. Merit contests the citations because the electrical work at the site is "construction and repair relating to . . . metal and coal mining" and is therefore exempt from licensure under Utah Code Ann. § 58-55-6(2) (1994).⁴

Merit timely filed notice with the Division contesting the citations, denied violating the Act, and requested a hearing in accordance with the Utah Administrative Procedures Act ("UAPA"), Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-1, et seq., and the applicable rules at Utah Admin. R156-46b-1 (1994), et seq.⁵ Despite the classification

¹ Effective May 2, 1994, the Construction Trades Licensing Act was renumbered. Thus, § 58-55-1 became § 58-55-101. In this brief, Petitioners will refer to sections of the Act by reference to the numbering system that was in effect at the time the citations were issued and which appear on the citations. The corresponding new sections will be referenced in footnotes the first time any section appears in the body of the brief.

² Corresponding to Utah Code Ann. § 58-55-501(3) (Supp. 1994).

³ Corresponding to Utah Code Ann. § 58-55-501(1) (Supp. 1994).

⁴ Corresponding to Utah Code Ann. § 58-55-305(2) (Supp. 1994).

⁵ As of August 31, 1994, the Division amended the rules governing agency adjudicatory procedures, but did not change the substance of the rule sections cited in this brief. Citations to the Division's rules will be to those in effect at the time the Conversion Order occurred. The corresponding new rule numbers will be cited in a footnote the first time a citation to a rule occurs. Copies of the new rules are included in Addendum E.

of hearings to contest citations as informal proceedings under R156-46b-202(1)(m),⁶ the Division, on February 11, 1994, filed a Motion to Convert to Formal Adjudicative Proceedings ("Motion to Convert"). That same day, the presiding officer granted the Division's motion and issued an Order Converting Citation to Formal Adjudicative Proceedings. Merit timely filed an objection to the Division's motion and the presiding officer's order. In response, the presiding officer vacated his order on March 4, 1994. After both parties submitted further responsive pleadings, the presiding officer conducted a hearing on the Motion to Convert on March 28, 1994. On April 5, 1994, the presiding officer issued a second Order Converting Citation to Formal Adjudication Proceedings ("Conversion Order"). Merit filed a Request for Review of Order Converting Citation to Formal Adjudicative Proceedings, dated May 5, 1994. The Executive Director of the Department of Commerce issued an Order on Review which denies Merit's Request for Review. Merit asks this Court to vacate the April 5, Conversion Order⁷ because the Conversion Order: (i) violates the Division's procedural rules, (ii) is unlawful under the governing statute, (iii) was an abuse of discretion, insofar as the governing statute provides discretion, and (iv) denies Merit equal protection under the law.

⁶ Corresponding to Utah Admin. R156-46b-202(1)(n).

⁷ Two orders are currently at issue: (i) the Department of Commerce's Order on Review, issued on June 27, 1994, in which the Director of the Department of Commerce refused to review the Conversion Order, and (ii) the underlying April 5 Conversion Order. Except as separately referenced, these orders will be collectively referred to as the Conversion Order.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. On December 9, 1993, the Division issued citations to Merit Electrical and Instrumentation, Inc. and four of its employees alleging violations of the Utah Construction Trades Licensing Act. Utah Code Ann. § 58-55-1 et seq. (1993).

2. The Division bases the citations on its allegation that Merit Electrical hired unlicensed electricians to perform electrical construction work in connection with the refinery modernization project owned by Kennecott Utah Copper Corporation and thereby violated § 58-55-2(32)(c) of the Construction Trades Licensing Act.

3. With respect to the individual employees, the Division alleges that they engaged in electrical contracting work without a license or without exemption from licensure in violation of § 58-55-2(32)(a).

4. Citations were timely contested in accordance with the instructions included on the citations, the UAPA, and the applicable agency rules, which provide that contested citations be adjudicated as informal proceedings for which an evidentiary hearing is required. See Utah Admin. Code R156-46b-202(1)(m) (1994). Merit contests the citations because the electrical work at the site is "construction and repair relating to . . . metal and coal mining" and is therefore exempt from licensure under Utah Code Ann. § 58-55-6(2) (1994).

5. On February 11, 1994, despite its own rule, which classifies hearings to contest citations as informal, see Utah Admin. R156-46b-202(1)(m) (1994), the Division filed a Motion to Convert to Formal Adjudicative Proceedings. See Addendum F.

6. On the same day, the presiding officer, without the benefit of briefing, issued an Order Converting Citation to Formal Adjudicative Proceedings. See Addendum G.

7. In response to the Merit's objection, the presiding officer vacated the order on March 4, 1994. See Addendum H.

8. On April 5, 1994, the presiding officer issued a second Order Converting Citation to Formal Adjudicative Proceedings. See Addendum I.

9. On May 5, 1994, Merit filed a Request for Review of the Conversion Order, see Addendum B, and a Notice of Substitution of Counsel.

10. On June 27, 1994, the Executive Director of the Department of Commerce issued an Order on Review denying Merit's Request for Review on the ground that the Department has no jurisdiction to review the Conversion Order, and remanded the proceedings to the Division. See Addendum J.

11. Merit timely filed a Petition for Review with this Court on July 27, 1994.

12. The Court of Appeals issued a Notice of Consideration for Summary Disposition on August 18, 1994, on the grounds that the Petition For Review is taken from an interlocutory agency order and the Court therefore lacked subject matter jurisdiction.

13. On October 7, 1994, after the parties filed memoranda supporting their positions, Judge Jackson issued an order denying the Court's own motion for summary dismissal and required plenary presentation of the case.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Merit has petitioned this court to vacate the Conversion Order, which converts consolidated citation proceedings from an informal to a formal adjudication. The effect of the conversion is to change the procedures used at the administrative hearing level and, more significantly, to alter the nature of judicial review of the agency decision. Specifically, the Conversion Order, in denying Merit's objections, justified the Division's failure to comply with the its own rules mandating citation proceedings to be conducted as informal hearings, by placing reliance on the Division's policy manual which contains model forms for conversion and by summarily relying upon the language contained in the Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-4, which provides for conversion of agency proceedings in limited circumstances. The order concluded that the explicit statutory prerequisites which require conversions: (i) to be in the public interest and (ii) not to be prejudicial to the parties, had been met.

The reasoning and conclusions of law underpinning the Conversion Order are flawed, and as a result the order violates the Division's own rules, is contrary to law, and is otherwise an abuse of discretion. Merit further asserts that Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-4 deprives Merit of equal protection under the law, both because the conversion statute is unconstitutional on its face and as applied in this case.

As an initial matter, the Conversion Order is contrary to the Division's own rules that contested citations be adjudicated as

informal proceedings which include a required evidentiary hearing. Nowhere in the rules is there a reservation of discretion to change the mandated informal hearing. Moreover, on its face, Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-4 does not permit conversion in cases where the Division has designated a particular proceeding as informal by rule. Statutory language aside, an agency cannot promulgate a rule that limits its statutory discretion and then exercise its discretion, as if the rule did not exist. In this case, the Division limited its discretion to convert by promulgating a rule that mandates an informal proceeding for contested citations. Therefore, it cannot now convert to a formal proceeding.

Even assuming arguendo that the Division has authority to convert, it has abused its discretion in this case because the Conversion Order fails to satisfy the statutory requirements for conversion. The hearing procedures the presiding officer seeks, and uses to justify the conversion, are already available as part of the informal evidentiary hearing mandated by the Division's own rules discussed in the Division's policy manual. Examination of witnesses, submittal of rebuttal evidence and use of the expertise of the Contractor's Licensing Board are all, as sought, available to the Division in the context of the informal hearing. Thus, the basis for justifying the public interest is purely illusory. Similarly, the criterion that the parties will not be prejudiced is not met. When an agency engages in an unlawful procedure or fails to follow prescribed procedures, it is presumed, as a matter of law, that the party claiming relief has been "statutorily

prejudiced." Furthermore, the conversion denies Merit the right to a de novo trial (where the rules of evidence and civil procedure are fully applicable). Thus, neither prong of the conversion statute has been met and it must be reversed as an abuse of discretion.

In addition, Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-4 is unconstitutional both on its face and as it applied in this case because it deprives Merit, as part of a class contesting citations, of equal protection of the law. In order to provide equal protection to all parties contesting citation proceedings, the statute must insure that similarly situated parties within the class are treated similarly. The conversion statute does not, on its face, provide such justification. The criteria, especially the public interest requirement, are vacuous in that they provide no guidance for determining which parties are selected from a similarly situated class for different treatment. The class in this case consists of parties contesting citations, yet, the statute provides no guidance for either identifying that class or for determining which parties from the class are singled out for a different procedural track. Denial of equal protection by the application of the statute is evidenced by the fact that the Division converted only one other citation proceeding from a formal to an informal proceeding. Accordingly, the conversion statute must be considered to be arbitrary and constitutionally prohibited.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE DIVISION'S CONVERSION ORDER MUST BE VACATED AS THE ORDER IS CONTRARY TO THE DIVISION'S OWN PROCEDURAL RULES, IS CONTRARY TO LAW, AND IS OTHERWISE AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION.

The Conversion Order, dated April 5, 1994, must be vacated as the reasoning and conclusions of law underpinning the order, and denying Merits' objections, are flawed. The order violates the Division's own procedural rules, is contrary to law and is otherwise an abuse of discretion.

Specifically, the Conversion Order concludes that any argument that the conversion is in violation of the Division's own procedural rules, Utah Admin. R156-460-202(1)(m) and 403(3) is without merit, because the Division's Bureau of Investigations, Policies and Procedures Manual ("Division's Policies") "anticipated that such conversions to formal proceedings would occur in appropriate cases and included model forms drafted for the purpose of conversion of such cases to formal proceedings." See Conversion Order at 2 (Addendum I). The Conversion Order further concludes that Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-4(3) "clearly provides, 'any' informal proceeding may be converted to form proceeding." See Addendum I at 2.

Having summarily dismissed the binding effect of its own rules, the order then goes on to review the criteria for conversion, that is: (i) is conversion in the public interest and (ii) does conversion unfairly prejudice any party. The presiding officer found that the public interest criterion was met because the Merit proceeding is "highly disputed in what may be a novel

interpretation of the facts and law which may require the cross examination of witnesses and require submittal of rebuttal evidence in order [to] fully address the issues in the case, and may require the expertise of the Contractor's Licensing Board." Conversion Order at 3 (Addendum I). As to any prejudicial effect, the presiding officer found that: (i) informal proceedings did not provide adequate procedures for adjudicating the issues involved and (ii) denying Merit the right to a district court was not a basis for conducting an informal proceeding.

Each of these arguments must fail. First, the Conversion Order is unlawful for the simple reason that the Division has failed to follow the procedure which it has prescribed for itself in Rule 156-46b-202(1)(m). It is the basic tenant of administrative law that an agency cannot violate its own rules and regulations. Those rules have the force and effect of law and equally bind the agency and those being regulated.⁸ Second, Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-4 (1993), on its face, does not permit conversion when an agency has chosen, by formal rulemaking, to mandate that a particular class of proceedings be adjudicated informally. The language of the statute aside, after a rule mandating a particular type of proceeding has been promulgated, the Division has, de facto, chosen to limit any grant of discretion

⁸ Even the Division recognizes that its own rules have the force of law. The Division's Orientation and Reference Manual for Professional Licensing Board Members, states: "There are two basic types of laws with which the Boards and Division deal in the licensing and regulation of designated occupations or professions. . . . The first are statutes. . . . The second type of law are rules." Orientation Manual at 8 (1994) (Addendum K).

that it might otherwise have. Lastly, assuming arguendo the Division retains discretion to convert licensing procedures from informal to formal proceedings, the Conversion Order in this case cannot stand because it fails to satisfy the statutory requirements for conversion. In short, the Division can find no refuge in Utah Code Ann. §63-46b-4 for converting the instant proceedings and the order should be vacated. Each of these arguments is addressed, in turn, below.

A. The Division's Conversion Order Must be Vacated as the Order is Contrary to the Division's Rules Which Mandate that Contested Citations Shall be Adjudicated by an Informal Proceeding with an Evidentiary Hearing.

1. The Division's Rules Mandate that an Informal Proceeding with an Evidentiary Hearing be Conducted to Adjudicate the Citations at Issue in This Case.

The UAPA provides two tracks for adjudicative proceedings within state agencies--formal and informal. Under Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-4 (1993), all agency adjudicative proceedings are formal unless the agency's rules designate that they are informal. Formal adjudications embody a trial-like proceeding that includes, among other characteristics, discovery, motion practice, an evidentiary hearing on the record, intervention, and written findings of fact and conclusions of law. See Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-6 through 10 (1993). For an informal proceeding, however, discovery and intervention are prohibited, and no hearing occurs unless provided for by rule or statute.⁹ See Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-5 (1993).

⁹ A hearing may be conducted on the record at the request and expense of the parties and the production of evidence may be required at the hearing. Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-5(1)(e) & (2)(a) (1993).

Most importantly, while the UAPA guarantees a trial de novo in district court to parties to an informal proceeding, with attendant appeal, a party to a formal proceeding can only appeal an unfavorable ruling to an appellate court with the attendant limited review (e.g., appellate courts grant great deference to agency factual determinations). Id. at 63-46b-15 and 16. Thus, the most critical difference between a formal and informal adjudication is that parties to an informal adjudication can obtain two levels of judicial review--at the district court and appellate court--whereas parties to a formal adjudication have only one opportunity for review.

Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-4(1) (1993), the Division has designated proceedings to adjudicate contested citations issued under the Construction Trades Licensing Act, Utah Code Ann. § 58-55-13(4) (1994),¹⁰ as informal. See Utah Admin. R156-46b-202(1)(m) (1994). Furthermore, as allowed by Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-5, the Division's rules specifically mandate an evidentiary hearing for adjudication of contested citations. Utah Admin. R156-46b-403(3) (1994).

Merit contested the licensing citations issued to them in accordance with Utah Code Ann. § 58-55-13(4) (1994). Despite its own rule mandating that contested citations be informally adjudicated, the Division successfully converted the citations proceedings from informal to formal. The effect of this conversion

¹⁰ Corresponding to Utah Code Ann. § 58-55-503(4) (Supp. 1994).

is to place Merit on a procedural track which is contrary to the Division's rules and therefore contrary to law.¹¹

2. The Conversion to a Formal Proceeding Violates the Division's Procedural Rules.

By converting the citations proceedings to a formal adjudication in the face of its own rules mandating an informal adjudication with an evidentiary hearing, the Division has violated its own procedural rules. In State ex rel. Department of Community Affairs v. Utah Merit System Council, 614 P.2d 1259, 1263 (Utah 1980), the Utah Supreme Court unequivocally held that agencies must abide by their own procedural rules or face reversal on appeal. The Division has engaged in the same sort of procedural misstep as the agency in Merit and must similarly be reversed.

In Merit, the Merit System Council excluded a Department of Community Affairs representative from an administrative hearing, despite the fact that the Merit Council's procedural rules provided that a representative of the agency could be present during such a hearing. The Court held that "administrative regulations are presumed to be reasonable and valid and cannot be ignored or followed by the agency to suit its own purposes. Such is the essence of arbitrary and capricious action." Id. Accordingly, the Court remanded the case to the agency because "[t]he council cannot violate its own procedural rules." Id.; see also Frisby v. United

¹¹ By failing to comply with its own rules and by placing Petitioners on a different track with a different set of procedural safeguards, the Division has also deprived them of due process. See D.B. v. Division of Occupational and Professional Licensing, 779 P.2d 1145 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) (the Division's unlawful procedure or decision making process constitutes due process violation).

States Dept. of Housing & Urban Dev., 755 F.2d 1052, 1055 (3rd Cir. 1985) ("Failure on the part of the agency to act in compliance with its own regulations is fatal to such action."); Hartnett v. Cleland, 434 F. Supp. 18 (D.S.C. 1977) (when an administrative agency takes any action affecting the rights of a party, the agency "must scrupulously comply with its own rules and regulations").

The Division in this case is attempting to do exactly what the Merit Court prohibited--violate its own procedural rules. The transgression is blatant. The Division's rules provide for an informal adjudication with attendant de novo review in district court, and yet the Division has converted to a formal proceeding with limited appellate review.

Moreover, the regulatory scheme governing this case illustrates the Division's special concern for and attention to contested citation adjudications. The Division did not simply classify citation hearings as informal, but also "required" an evidentiary hearing for such proceedings. Utah Admin. R156-46b-403(3) (1994). This is noteworthy because "[e]videntiary hearings are not required for informal division adjudicative proceedings unless required by statute or rule, or permitted by rule and requested by a party" Utah Admin. R156-46b-403(1) (1994). While the Division designated some twenty proceedings as informal, see Utah Admin. R156-46b-202(1) (1994), it required the additional safeguard of a hearing only for contested citations and one other proceeding. See id. at 46b-403(3).

In the same vein, the Division's Policies state that informal proceedings are intended to address the specific issue in dispute in the instant case: "Was there a legal basis to issue the citations?" See Division's Policies at 45 (Addendum L). When a party contests the legal basis of a citation the Division's Policies provide certain explicit procedural rights. For example, parties are entitled to "testify, present evidence, and comment on the issues at the hearing. In putting on evidence Respondents may testify, call and examine witnesses, and introduce evidence." Id. at 37. This framework suggests that the Division thoughtfully contemplated the nature of such adjudications and devised a proceeding that limited the complexity involved in discovery and intervention, but that ensured procedural rights commensurate with the complexity of issues involved with contested citations.

The Division cannot now abandon its own procedural rules. "Such is the essence of arbitrary and capricious action" and constitutes reversible error. Merit, 614 P.2d at 1263.

3. The Utah Administrative Procedure Act Requires This Court to Vacate the Conversion Order.

Based on the forgoing discussion, the Division has clearly violated its own procedural rules by converting the citations to a formal proceeding. The UAPA explicitly requires that Merit be granted relief from the Conversion Order.

Under the UAPA:

The appellate court shall grant relief only if, on the basis of the agency's record, it determines that a person seeking judicial review has been substantially prejudiced by any of the following:

. . . .

(e) the agency has engaged in an unlawful procedure or decision-making process, or has failed to follow prescribed procedure.

Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(4) (1993). Once an appellate court finds that an agency failed to follow its own procedures, it presumes substantial prejudice and grants relief. Krantz v. Utah Dept. of Commerce, 856 P.2d 369, 371 (Utah Ct. App. 1993). Having shown that the Division has "failed to follow [its] prescribed procedure," Merit respectfully requests this Court to grant relief by vacating the Conversion Order.

B. Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-4 Does Not Authorize Conversion of Proceedings Designated by Rule as Informal.

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