1994

Merit Electrical & Instrumentation, a corporation,
and Jonathan Carl Juretech, Christopher M.
Schiffman, Dan A. Johnson, and Kit Vaness v. Utah
Department of Commerce, Division of
Occupational and Professional Licensing: Brief of
Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Employers like Kennecott benefit financially every day they are permitted to use unlicensed and unregulated construction workers like petitioners, in violation of Utah law. Licensed and regulated electricians cost more and are more demanding because they are unionized. This petition for review is a frivolous attempt to use the appellate court to further delay a hearing on the merits before the licensing agency.

This Court's jurisdiction is generally defined in UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-2a-3, but specifically limited in the Utah Administrative Procedures Act ("UAPA"), UTAH CODE ANN. § 63-46b-16. Utah law does not give this Court jurisdiction to review an order resulting from an informal agency adjudication. Furthermore, as this Court has clearly held, Utah law does not allow this Court to review a nonfinal agency order. Unlike the federal system,

this Court has no discretion to adopt a common law doctrine to circumvent its statutorily defined jurisdictional parameters.

ARGUMENT

I. THERE IS NO CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY PROVISION ALLOWING THIS COURT TO REVIEW A NONFINAL ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER RESULTING FROM AN INFORMAL ADJUDICATIVE PROCEEDING.

A. The Conversion Order Does Not Result from a Formal Adjudicative Proceeding.

Absent a specific statute granting this court a right to review this matter, this court cannot claim jurisdiction. The Court of Appeals is a statutory court whose jurisdiction "must be provided by statute." DeBry v. Salt Lake County Bd of Appeals 764 P.2d 627 (Utah App. 1988). This Court has jurisdiction to review agency action only when "the legislature expressly authorizes review." Id. at 628. Pursuant to the Constitution of the State of Utah, all jurisdiction must be provided by statute. Utah Const. art. VIII, § 5.

The entire jurisdiction of the Court of Appeals to review administrative orders emanating from the Division of Occupational and Professional Licensing is set out in UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-2a-3(2) (Cum. Supp. 1994) and in UAPA at UTAH CODE ANN. § 63-46b-16(1) (1993). Section 78-2a-3(2) defines the outer boundaries of this Court's jurisdiction and states in pertinent part: "The Court of Appeals has appellate jurisdiction, including jurisdiction of interlocutory appeals, over: (a) The **final** orders and decrees resulting from **formal** adjudicative proceedings of state agencies or appeals from the district court review of informal adjudicative proceedings of the agencies." While Section 78-2a-3

generally grants this Court jurisdiction over interlocutory appeals, it does not allow the Court of Appeals discretion to review nonfinal, informal administrative orders. This Court has recognized that Section 78-2a-3 "defines the outermost limits of our appellate jurisdiction, allowing us to review agency decisions only when the legislature expressly authorizes a right to review." DeBry, 764 P.2d at 627-8. UAPA specifically limits this Court's jurisdiction by allowing judicial review only of final agency action resulting from formal adjudicative proceedings. UTAH CODE ANN. § 63-46b-16(1) (1993).

Both UAPA and Section 78-2a-3 require the agency order on direct judicial review by this court to arise from a formal agency action and to constitute final agency action. There is no basis for jurisdiction in this case, since the order converting these proceedings to a formal hearing was issued by the presiding officer assigned to hear contested citations, which are classified as informal hearings. UTAH CODE ANN. § 63-46b-4(1); Utah Admin. Code R156-46b-202 (1)(n). Thus, it resulted from an informal adjudicative proceeding.

It is prerequisite to this Court's jurisdiction that the contested order originate from a formal adjudicative proceeding. The Utah Supreme Court has clearly recognized the legislative grant of jurisdiction to Utah's appellate courts only to review actions in formal adjudicative proceedings. Southern Utah Wilderness Alliance v. Board of State Lands, 830 P.2d 233, 234 (1992). In that case, the jurisdictional linchpin was likewise

whether the agency action challenged arose from a formal or an informal adjudicative proceeding. The court reviewed the language of both UAPA and its own jurisdictional statute, and held:

These provisions make clear that this court has jurisdiction over all dispositive orders arising from formal adjudicative proceedings, while the district courts have jurisdiction over final agency actions resulting from informal proceedings.

830 P.2d at 236. Since the matter arose from an informal proceeding, the petition for review was dismissed for lack of jurisdiction.

Southern Utah Wilderness Assn. conclusively declares the dispositive effect that both Section 78-2a-3 and 63-46b-16 have in this case since no formal adjudicative hearing has been scheduled and the only order which petitioners seek to challenge in judicial review is the conversion order issued from the informal hearing officer. If since the agency order challenged does not result from a formal adjudicative proceeding, this Court has no jurisdiction.

B. The Conversion Order Does Not Constitute Final Agency Action.

Even if this order did result from a formal adjudicative proceeding, this court would lack jurisdiction over the petition for review. The order converting the proceedings is not a final order since this case has yet to be heard on its merits. In Barney v. Division of Occ. & Prof. Lic., 828 P.2d 542 (Utah App.), cert. denied, 843 P.2d 516 (Utah 1992), petitioner claimed to be subject to double jeopardy because action was taken against

him administratively and criminally. Barney's motion to dismiss the administrative charges was denied, and he petitioned for judicial review of that order. This Court concluded it had no jurisdiction, holding that "UTAH CODE ANN. § 63-46b-16(1) (1989) grants this court jurisdiction to review **final** agency actions resulting from formal adjudicative proceedings." Id. at 544 (emphasis in original). The Court concluded such "finality" exists when

the agency proceedings have been brought to their conclusion by disposition of all issues before the agency. The denial of a motion to dismiss allows the proceeding to continue in agency and is not a final order for purposes of judicial review.

Id. at 544. Thus, UAPA prohibits judicial review of all agency action that has not culminated in a disposition of all issues before the agency. UTAH CODE ANN. §§ 63-46b-15(1)(a), and 16 (1). In this case, a formal hearing is still pending and the merits have yet to be heard.

II. UTAH LAW DOES NOT GRANT THIS COURT DISCRETION TO CREATE AN EXCEPTION TO ITS STATUTORILY DEFINED JURISDICTION AND ADOPT THE COMMON LAW FEDERAL COLLATERAL ORDER DOCTRINE.

Petitioners concede the conversion order is interlocutory, but argue that it should nonetheless be deemed "final" for purposes of the judicial review provided for in sections 63-46b-15 and -16, through application of the "collateral order doctrine." However, UAPA does not permit judicial review of any type of nonfinal order resulting from an informal administrative proceeding. The statute leaves this Court with no discretion to adopt a common law doctrine creating an exception to the plain

language restricting this Court's jurisdiction to review administrative orders. This Court cannot by case law reshape its statutorily defined jurisdiction.

The collateral order doctrine was first enunciated Cohen v. Beneficial Indus. Loan Corp., 337 U.S. 541, 546-47 (1949). Cohen was a derivative action brought in federal court by shareholder plaintiffs. The corporate defendant filed a motion to require plaintiff to post security for reasonable expenses it incurred in the action, in accordance with a state law requirement. The federal district court denied the motion, ruling that the state law did not apply to the federal action. The corporate defendant appealed this order and the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court. Id. at 543-45.

Addressing the appealability of the trial court's order as a threshold matter, the Supreme Court concluded that it was an appealable "final decision" within the federal statute fixing the appellate jurisdiction of the federal Circuit Courts of Appeal, 28 U.S.C. § 1291. Cohen, 337 U.S. at 545.

However, the Utah statute fixing this court's power to review the orders of agencies governed by UAPA precludes this Court from deeming an interlocutory order to be reviewable. The federal appellate courts have this power pursuant to 28 U.S.C.A. §§ 1291 and 1292 (1993), which give them jurisdiction over appeals from "final decisions" of district courts, as well as certain interlocutory court orders. Therefore, the federal

statute defining federal appellate jurisdiction allowed appeals from orders other than final trial court judgements. See Cohen, 337 U.S. at 545.

The United States Supreme Court's ability to fashion an interlocutory appeal was contingent on the specific language of the federal appellate courts' jurisdictional mandate. "It is obvious that, if Congress had allowed appeals only from those final judgments which terminate an action, this order would not be appealable." Id. In contrast, UAPA limits this Court's jurisdiction by authorizing judicial review only of "final agency actions." Utah Code Ann. §§ 63-46b-15(1)(a), -16(1) (1993).² This Court has specific and unambiguous jurisdictional limits and is legislatively mandated to consider only petitions for review of final orders or decrees from formal adjudicative proceedings. There is no discretion vested in this Court to fashion a common law exception to this statutorily defined jurisdiction. As the Utah Supreme Court has noted, "[i]n the absence of a specific statute granting us jurisdiction over a writ of review from an

² In the context of appellate jurisdiction of Utah courts to consider appeals from trial courts, the only governing statute is broad like the federal statute, permitting this Court to exercise appellate jurisdiction over interlocutory appeals. Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2) (Supp. 1994). Thus, judicial adoption of the "collateral order doctrine" to deem final an interlocutory trial court order is not precluded in Utah. Nonetheless, the Utah Supreme Court has not yet found an appropriate situation meriting use of the doctrine. See Tyler v. Department of Human Services, 874 P.2d 119 (Utah 1994).